

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# **BBA Clinical**

journal homepage: http://www.journals.elsevier.com/bba-clinical/



#### Review

# Multifactorial determinants of cognition — Thyroid function is not the only one



Roy Moncayo \*, Karina Ortner

Department of Nuclear Medicine, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 31 December 2014 Received in revised form 11 April 2015 Accepted 14 April 2015 Available online 22 April 2015

Keywords:
Cognition
Thyroid function
Magnesium
Prenatal maternal stress
Hippocampus
NMDA receptors

#### ABSTRACT

*Background:* Since the 1960s hypothyroidism together with iodine deficiency have been considered to be a principal determinant of cognition development. Following iodine supplementation programs and improved treatment options for hypothyroidism this relation might not be valid in 2015. On the other hand neurosciences have added different inputs also related to cognition.

Scope of review: We will examine the characteristics of the original and current publications on thyroid function and cognition and also add some general determinants of intelligence and cognition. One central issue for us is the relation of stress to cognition knowing that both physical and psychological stress, are frequent elements in subjects with thyroid dysfunction. We have considered a special type of stress called pre-natal stress which can influence cognitive functions. Fear and anxiety can be intermingled requiring mechanisms of fear extinction. Major conclusions: Recent studies have failed to show an influence of thyroid medication during pregnancy on intellectual development. Neuroscience offers a better explanation of cognition than hypothyroidism and iodine deficiency. Additional factors relevant to cognition are nutrition, infection, prenatal stress, and early life stress. In turn stress is related to low magnesium levels. Magnesium supplementation can correct both latent hypothyroidism and acquired mild cognitive deficits.

General significance: Cognition is a complex process that depends on many determinants and not only on thyroid function. Magnesium deficiency appears to be a basic mechanism for changes in thyroid function as well as of cognition.

© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### **Contents**

1.	Introductory remarks	. 290
2.	General factors that can influence cognition and IQ	. 290
	2.1. Nutrition	. 290
	2.2. Adolescent mothers	. 290
	2.3. Early life stress in the form of infection, trauma and inflammation	. 290
3.	Studies on the relation between thyroid function and IQ development	. 290
	3.1. Thyroid function, obstetrical pathology, and cognitive development — early studies	. 291
	3.2. Studies from Elisabeth Man and work in Western New Guinea	. 291
	3.3. New Guinea and the man-made iodine deficiency condition	. 291
	3.4. What is valid in 2015?	
4.	Can economics offer an explanation for health and models of prenatal stress?	. 292
	4.1. Intellectual fusion in cognition research	
5.	The role of the cerebellum in cognition	. 293
6.	Pre-natal stress	. 293
	6.1. Anxiety, cognition, telomerase activity and the role of psychological stress	. 294
	6.2. Fear extinction	. 294
7.	Neurocognitive research, stress and the NMDA receptor	. 295
8.	Magnesium: a new therapeutic option in stress and in thyroid function and neuro cognitive research	. 295
9.	Limitations of the review	. 295

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Department of Nuclear Medicine, Medical University of Innsbruck, 6020 Innsbruck, Austria. E-mail addresses: Roy.Moncayo@i-med.ac.at (R. Moncayo), Karina.Ortner@student.i-med.ac.at (K. Ortner).

Contributions	. 295
Transparency document	. 295
References	. 296

#### 1. Introductory remarks

Cognition is a term referring to the mental processes involved in gaining knowledge and comprehension. These processes include thinking, knowing, remembering, judging, and problem-solving. These are higher-level functions of the brain and encompass language, imagination, perception, and planning. Evaluation of cognition or intelligence quotient (IQ) is a complex field [1]. Details on how to make such evaluations will not be dealt with here.

Since the 1960s a relationship between hypothyroidism, iodine deficiency and alterations in cognition has been described. These concepts have been maintained for more than 50 years. Due to advances in medical health care the validity of this old postulate might not hold in 2015. This should be kept in mind especially since the condition of iodine supply in the world is improving [2] while at the same time treatment of hypothyroidism with pharmaceutical preparations of thyroxine is being further developed [3]. Apart from iodine deficiency we have recently described a novel player in the regulation of thyroid function and morphology, i.e. magnesium. Low magnesium levels can originate from both physical and psychological stress and these stressors can be found both in hyper—as well as in hypothyroidism. Correction of magnesium deficiency with magnesium citrate can improve both thyroid function as well as slight cognitive deficits seen parallel to acquired thyroid dysfunction [4–6].

Looking outside the field of thyroidology one can find that modern neuroscience research has contributed different insights related to cognition. Unfortunately current studies on cognition and thyroid function do not consider these other inputs [7]. Due to this dichotomist situation we felt that it was imperative to at least enumerate current concepts and factors related to cognition. The individual sections will describe the following: the dogma of the relation to thyroid function, general factors related to cognition such as nutrition and infections, economics, pre-natal stress, stress and telomerase, fear extinction, and the role of the cerebellum and of the hippocampus. Since there is until now no integrative approach to cognition that would unite these elements, the reader is advised to go through each section individually.

#### 2. General factors that can influence cognition and IQ

Searching the medical literature with the terms: "determinants of intelligence" one can find conditions such as body weight at birth [8–10], the duration of pregnancy [11,12], and birth order [13,14] as factors that influence intelligence development. Social conditions have also been described as strong predictors of the IQ of the child [15]. Drug interactions on cognition are also known, e.g. the classical antihistamine, p-chlorpheniramine [16]. Choline imprinting can also modify cognition [17]. Thus strategies or suggestions that consider choline supplementation have appeared [18]. Brain development and vitamin B have also been presented in the literature [19].

### 2.1. Nutrition

In 1995 Grantham-McGregor scrutinized the effects of severe malnutrition on mental development [20]: after early life malnutrition IQ levels can be poor. The author concluded that the outcome depends on the quality of the environment (see also the discussion on economics in Section 4). In an experimental environment Strupp and Levitsky described a connection between early malnutrition and changes in emotionality and even anxiety [21]. Malnourished children can show alterations in working memory, visual construction, learning and memory [22]. Byrd-Bredbenner et al. looked at the link between social cognitive competence and the mothers' dietary intake and BMI. They found out that women in the lowest tertile on the Likert scale consumed significantly less fiber, vitamin C, magnesium, potassium and fruit and vegetables than the upper tertiles [23]. Marques and coauthors examined the combined situation of early childhood nutrition as well as maternal prenatal stress in relation to immune system development and neurodevelopmental changes. They found out that adequate nutrition is necessary to establish an immune system as well as an adequate immune response; this is so important because the immune system may modulate the risk for later neurodevelopmental diseases [24].

#### 2.2. Adolescent mothers

Adolescent mothers and the effect of their early responsibility to another life are a controversial subject. Camp described the negative influence of adolescent mothers to the development of the children: more children than expected had high scores on scales for hyperactivity and academic disability [25]. Sommer et al. suggested that only 28% of the children born by adolescent mothers scored within normal ranges on personal adjustment and intellectual–linguistic development, social–emotional functioning, and adaptive behavior at age 3 years [26].

# 2.3. Early life stress in the form of infection, trauma and inflammation

The literature suggests that both prenatal infections and traumatizing experiences during the time prior to puberty might cause harm to the children, e.g. they are suspected to increase the risk to be diseased with neuropsychiatric disorders later in life. Giovanoli et al. examined these happenings in a mouse model and found out that they induce "synergistic pathological effects on adult behavioral functions and neurochemistry" [27]. Furthermore, they suggested that "the prenatal insult markedly increases the vulnerability of the pubescent offspring to brain immune changes in response to stress". The observations by Wadhwa and colleagues let one assume that infections during pregnancy, especially maternal urogenital tract infections, are a risk factor for preterm birth, which is one of the most important obstetrical problems in the United States [28]. Besides, Tough et al. found evidence that maternal mental health might influence the development of the children and can cause problems for the toddlers at age 3 [29].

## Studies on the relation between thyroid function and IQ development

In this section we will refer to key publications dealing with the development of children in relation to maternal thyroid dysfunction. We have excluded studies describing the situation of congenital hypothyroidism.

Early reports on the association between disturbed thyroid function and child development were done at a time when only simple laboratory evaluations were available. The method used was that of the determination of butanol extractable iodine (BEI). A description of the basic chemical process for iodine determination was made by Bauman in 1895 [30]. Man et al. presented the method for the determination of BEI in the 1950s [31].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://psychology.about.com/od/cindex/g/def\_cognition.htm.

# 3.1. Thyroid function, obstetrical pathology, and cognitive development — early studies

In 1960 Greenman et al. reported the course of child development in relation to different states of thyroid function [32]. They included 22 women divided into 4 groups with known or suspected thyroid disorders during 23 pregnancies. In seven cases hypothyroidism was due to previous thyroidectomy. A second group included 7 women who had low BEI values and who were considered to have probably hypothyroidism. The third group included 6 women with similar characteristics as those found in group 2, however BEI values were higher. Group 4 included 3 patients with hyperthyroidism. The authors followed 23 pregnancies. One year after termination of pregnancy 18 children were alive and 5 children were described as being abnormal. The most marked alterations were observed in study group 2, i.e. low BEI levels. This group would now be classified as untreated hypothyroidism. There were 3 children with mental retardation, 1 stillbirth and 1 abortion; only one child was classified as normal.

#### 3.2. Studies from Elisabeth Man and work in Western New Guinea

Elisabeth Man and coworkers described in 1968 the features of premature children born in the 8th month of pregnancy [33]. The field nurse involved in this study reported that in many of the homes of these women with gestational hypothyroxinemia the socioeconomic conditions were not optimal. Data evaluation showed lower IQ values to be associated with low BEI levels in untreated hypothyroid women [34]. Low IQ levels, however, were also seen in children from mothers with euthyroid function. In this publication Man mentions other factors that should be considered in relation to IQ levels. These are: socioeconomic conditions, poor diet and malnutrition of the mother during gestation as well as of the infant in early life.

In the Addendum of the 1969 publication [33] the authors mention the work of Adams referring to endemic goiter in Western New Guinea [35]. Adams et al. reported a situation of gross iodine deficiency in the Mulia Valley of Western New Guinea. TSH was determined using the McKenzie bioassay. Comparing subjects with mental deficiency, motor abnormalities, deafness or deaf-mutism to non-defective people they found however no differences in TSH levels.

# 3.3. New Guinea and the man-made iodine deficiency condition

The mention of New Guinea as the setting for studying conditions of thyroid disease deserves an extra comment. The native population was basically enclosed in the highlands of Western New Guinea (WNG) [36]. Their main source of salt came from natural salines located in a volcanic area [37]. Volcanic areas are known to contain also selenium [38]. The introduction of capitalistic economy methods brought also the use of refined salt. The socio-economic aspects of this process of monetization produced a collapse in a pre-capitalist tribal economy which had been able to maintain a self-sufficient status [39]. By this external measure the population lost their natural nutritional sources and lost also sources of selenium and iodine. The effect of this measure can be clearly seen in Fig. 2 on page 795 of a later paper by Pharoah [40] where the rise of goiter incidence follows the introduction of refined salt. In addition to this the daily protein intake was described as being much lower than the European standards of that time which means that malnutrition was also present [41]. Selenium intake studied in 1992 was found to be extremely low [42]. The combined factor of protein-caloric malnutrition together with chronic iodine deficiency has indeed been described by Fierro-Benítez et al. in Ecuador in connection with cognitive defects in children [43].

An account presented by Pharoah mentioned the use of a tool for intellectual performance, i.e. the Pacific Design Construction Test [44]. With this tool the authors claimed to have found that the population had difficulties in dealing with a picture-based test. It has to be outlined

that the testing relied largely on non-verbal instructions, thus no direct language contact was involved. By this the test and the investigators introduced a foreign tool unrelated to the population. Looking back at this publication one finds that a quite unusual test was also utilized: to insert plastic pegs in a pegboard. Although the authors did not consider bias due to these tests they concluded that the population examined had deficits in motor and cognitive performance. Modern statistical methods would cast doubt as to the appropriate size of the sample which was extremely limited to 20 subjects. Extrapolating this approach to modern days one could elaborate that Rubik's cube could replace intelligence tests and introduce new concepts for cognition [45].

A graphical summary of the key publications which appeared between 1962 and 1971 is shown in Fig. 1.

#### 3.4. What is valid in 2015?

The basic studies cited here were conducted several decades ago. At that time iodine deficiency was a central issue. In addition to this some subjects presented some type pathology, e.g. premature infants, and mothers had untreated hypothyroidism. Summing up these previous investigations Bougma et al. 2013 presented a meta-analysis of data on iodine supplementation and mental retardation [46]. The authors described indeed the beneficial effect of iodine supplementation. By reading this publication one could believe that iodine deficiency is still prevalent now at the same rates as it was in the 1960s and will affect newborns also. Using a similar approach Zhou et al. have analyzed in 2013 the data on iodine supplementation and cognitive function of children [47]. They commented that there is a lack of quality evidence on the benefit of prenatal or peri-conceptional iodine supplementation on cognitive function of children. Zhou et al. pointed out the results reported by Lazarus where the authors had failed to find a positive effect on cognitive function at age 3 years by carrying out antenatal screening and maternal treatment of hypothyroidism [48]. This study is currently being pursued aiming at evaluation of cognition at a later age [7].

One forgotten aspect in such meta-analysis is to follow-up the initial descriptions of pathology. Following iodine supplementation programs this health problem has been eliminated or reduced in some countries but not in all. This can be demonstrated by the situation in Ecuador. One of the authors of this review (RM) started his scientific work on this topic back in 1976 under the guidance of Prof. Rodrigo Fierro-Benítez in Quito, Ecuador and the support of Prof. John B. Stanbury of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology [49]. Following iodine supplementation programs iodine deficiency was corrected by 1994 [50]. A later press report in 2013 confirmed the success of the iodine supplementation program in Ecuador.<sup>2</sup> A similar situation can be observed in Austria following iodine supplementation. The initial picture was that of iodine deficiency goiter [51]. We have recently dealt with this question indirectly while evaluating thyroid function parameters in normal pregnancies. Since iodine supply is sufficient it is now not uncommon to observe hyperthyroidism developing in pregnant women who receive extra iodine supplements [52]. Therefore the indiscriminate recommendation to increase iodine supply in normal pregnancies could do more harm if the population is iodine sufficient.

If the studied population bears similarities to those described by Man [33] (Fig. 1), i.e. premature babies with hypothyroxinemia, the negative results on IQ can be similar [53]. The question of hypothyroxinemia leads us to the way on how to detect such cases. After the days of BEI determinations the way to detect altered thyroid function in pregnant women is through validated laboratory reference values. We have recently presented such reference values for an iodine sufficient population [52]. Our validated biochemical approach contradicts the use of artificially defined low upper levels of TSH in pregnancy [54]. The use

 $<sup>^2\</sup> http://www.andes.info.ec/es/sociedad/bocio-cretinismo-endemico-erradicaronecuador-gracias-controles-niveles-yodo-sal.html.$ 

# Thyroid Function and Cognition 1960s - 1970s



G.W. Greenman et al., Thyroid dysfunction in pregnancy. Fetal loss and follow-up evaluation of surviving infants, N. Engl. J Med. 267 (1962) 426-431. PM:13901563



E.B. Man and W.S. Jones, Thyroid function in human pregnancy. V. Incidence of maternal serum low butanol-extractable iodines and of normal gestational TBG and TBPA capacities; retardation of 8-month-old infants, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 104 (1969) 898-908. PM:4183108



P.O. Pharoah et al., Neurological damage to the fetus resulting from severe iodine deficiency during pregnancy, Lancet 297 (1971) 308-310. PM:4100150

Fig. 1. Central issues relating thyroid function to cognition. It has to be noted that each publication described additional pathology during pregnancy (untreated maternal hypothyroidism, pathological pregnancies and low BEI levels, and severe iodine deficiency).

of lower upper reference values of TSH would unnecessarily turn normal euthyroid subjects into cases of hypothyroidism. We have previously analyzed the negative consequences of such approach for adults [55]. Recently we have also expressed our doubts on applying such artificial TSH reference values in the field of fertility. Such an action would only contribute to added emotional stress [56]. We have to mention here that women with recurrent pregnancy loss are affected by depression and emotional stress [57]. In the following sections we will discuss the role of such stress situations which can be termed prenatal maternal stress.

To close this section we will briefly describe the results of an interventional study entitled: "Antenatal thyroid screening and childhood cognitive function" [48]. The main result is that the study failed to show any effect of thyroxine administration on cognition. This lack of effect can be explained by the fact that the majority of women had normal TSH values (Table 1 in [48]).

To close this section it can be stated that what constitutes a risk profile for possible IQ alterations of the progeny is obstetrical pathology, overt hypothyroxinemia or untreated hypothyroidism, and prematurity. Normal TSH values, i.e. 0.–3 to 3.5 miU/l, do not predict a positive effect of thyroxine administration on cognition.

# 4. Can economics offer an explanation for health and models of prenatal stress?

In 1972 Grossman presented a thesis entitled: "On the concept of Health Capital and the Demand for Health" [58]. Although the concept has originated much resonance (4390 citations, Google Scholar, accessed April 11th, 2015)<sup>3</sup> from our point of view it is not applicable in the medical area. For example it does not consider that health stock could already be altered prior to birth nor does it consider quality in

health care. The text is oriented to point out quantity. We believe that a purely capitalistic approach where the author uses the term "human capital" is not the best one to deal with health objectives. Another misconception is that of health being a consumption commodity which results in disutility caused by sick days. While the author stresses that net investment in the stock of health equals gross investment minus depreciation, it leaves no room for measures that improve health and thus prevent depreciation. In equation 9 in Grossman's thesis full wealth is characterized as the sum of initial assets plus the present value of the earnings. This simplistic view ignores economic situations where professional life begins with a negative economic balance, e.g. student debts. This type of situations has been described to be related to poorer physical health [59]. In such a situation the person starts into productive life having a negative financial balance. Some of the problematic situations can be handled or not by the parents according to their capabilities [60]. In addition the level of worry, either high or low, in relation to the student's debt will have an influence on mental health [61].

The relation between economics, cognition and early life influences has been considered as a complementary whole in recent studies. While we do not agree with Grossman's limited model as being directly applicable to health, the economic descriptors he used can be taken as a simile to human postnatal development. In 2006 James J. Heckmann combined the concepts of health and economics and added the description that relates them to early life situations [62]. Skogen and Overland have recently commented on this hypothesis of fetal origins of adult disease (FOAD) from an epidemiological view [63]. In 2007 Heckmann described the interactions between health economics and the human capital approach as well as the economics related to cognitive and non-cognitive skill formation mentioning a panel of 9 (relevant?) items [62]. In his article "The developmental origins of health" [64] he added a framework used to analyze the expression and evolution of capabilities. The reader can extract that one central element is cognition however the author did not deliver a suggestion as how to remediate cognitive capabilities. The final conclusion of the article states: "We need to trace the effects of early-life outcomes on intermediate-life

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://scholar.google.com/citations?user=HlgG1z4AAAAJ&hl=de.

investments and environments in order to understand when and for what intervention can be effective".

#### 4.1. Intellectual fusion in cognition research

In 2006 Knudsen [65] defined their research focus in this field as follows: "This paper focuses on the striking convergence of four core concepts that have emerged from decades of mutually independent research in economics, neuroscience, and developmental psychology. First, the architecture of the brain and the process of skill formation are both influenced by an inextricable interaction between genetics and individual experience. Second, both the mastery of skills that are essential for economic success and the development of their underlying neural pathways follow hierarchical rules in a bottom-up sequence such that later attainments build on foundations that are laid down earlier. Third, cognitive, linguistic, social, and emotional competencies are interdependent, all are shaped powerfully by the experiences of the developing child, and all contribute to success in the workplace. Fourth, although adaptation continues throughout life, human abilities are formed in a predictable sequence of sensitive periods, during which the development of specific neural circuits and the behaviors they mediate are most plastic and, therefore, optimally receptive to environmental influences" [65].

This short account on the role of economics has made an interesting development coming to intellectual fusion between the fields of Neurobiology, Economics, Psychiatry and Social Policy and Management. The concept of early life situations will be taken up in the following sections from a different point of view.

#### 5. The role of the cerebellum in cognition

Besides the classical functions of the cerebellum in control motor activity, some evidence has accumulated indicating a role of this organ in cognition, thus defining a nascent field of work. Noroozian has recently presented a summary of some the developments [66]. We will enumerate some important findings in this new filed in the following lines. In the work done by Leiner et al. [67-69] it was found that the lateral cerebellum is involved in some cognitive and language functions. In 1997 Bloedel and Bracha discussed the dual function of cognition and cerebellar motor capabilities leading to motor coordination and adaptations in behavior [70]. Stoodley has described cognitive networks of the cerebellum which appear to be associated with prefrontal and parietal cortices [71]. Recently Koziol and Lutz proposed an interesting bottom up model of executive function and cognition based on the motor development in children [72]. The authors proposed that: "cognition and EF evolved from the development of the motors system to control it, and in this way, there is no critical difference or duality between motor and cognitive functions". This area can be expanded to include also elements called vestibular cognition [73]. Further aspects related to cerebellar function include spatial cognition in functions such as neural coding, learning, memory and cognition [74] as well as the interrelationship between cerebellum and language [75]. Bernard and Seidler discussed age-related changes in volume of the cerebellum [76]. Bernard et al. have also looked at changes of cerebellar volume in relation to age and cognitive function [77]. In a contribution by Ito which deals with intuition and thought the reader can find an interesting depiction of some of the important cerebellar areas involved in mental activities such as attention task, a future-vision task and a verbal working-memory task (Fig. 5 in [78]).

While going through these new notions on the role of the cerebellum the reader can sense that some of the characteristics mentioned coincide with parameters utilized in intelligence tests. Again, since this is a nascent field or research more can be expected to come in the future.

#### 6. Pre-natal stress

The field of neuro-behavioral development has recognized several factors that appear to have an influence on human development beginning before the birth of a person, i.e. a possible fetal origin of disease. Epidemiologists refer to the so-called Barker theory [79]. Barker described in 1986 a correlation between conditions that were present at about the time of birth as well as at early infancy and the morbidity and mortality of chronic diseases [80]. In 2005 Van den Bergh and colleagues summarized some of the early publications on this field [81]. Not only the developing fetus can be the target of external influences, stress acting on the mother can also affect negatively cognition and be associated with fearfulness in children. This is referred to as "fetal programming" [82]. It has been proposed that fetal origin of adult disease can be the result of nutritional stimuli or of corticosteroids [83]. In 2008 Beydoun reviewed the current literature dealing with the effect of prenatal maternal stress [84].

Additional changes that can be expected to occur after maternal stress are attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, conduct disorder, aggression or anxiety [85]. This situation for example can be related to lower neonatal weight and to low birth weight [86,87]. Besides, a group of researchers from the United States suggest that poor mental health, as well as problems in psychosocial functioning and impaired physical health is an outcome of traumatic exposure. The authors propose to treat the consequences of a PTSD to reduce the influence of this burden on individuals [88]. These effects should not be disregarded since it appears that roughly every woman experiences some kind of prenatal maternal stress (PNMS) during her pregnancy. In addition to this PNMS represents a risk for preterm delivery — the most important problem in maternal-child health in the United States. Wadhwa et al. even developed a model according to which chronic maternal stress is a significant and independent risk factor for preterm birth. They present two possible pathways through which PNMS may act: "(a) a neuroendocrine pathway, wherein maternal stress may ultimately result in premature and/or greater degree of activation of the maternal-placental-fetal endocrine systems that promote parturition; and (b) an immune/ inflammatory pathway, wherein maternal stress may modulate characteristics of systemic and local (placental-decidual) immunity to increase susceptibility to intrauterine and fetal infectious-inflammatory processes and thereby promote parturition through pro-inflammatory mechanisms" [28].

Möhler and colleagues demonstrated that infant affective reactivity to novelty was influenced by PNMS, however, postnatal maternal stress was not associated with the toddler reactivity [89]. Another study shows that prenatal maternal stress has a negative influence on both the toddlers' cognition and fearfulness and suggests that the intrauterine development influences the neurodevelopmental and psychiatric outcome. The authors describe that "prenatal stress accounted for 17% of the variance in cognitive ability and 10% of the variance in observed fearfulness" [82]. In another publication the same group of investigators provided preliminary evidence in humans that early caregiving environment might reduce the effects of PNMS on children [90]. Besides, further clinical evidence showed that personal resources and sociocultural context in pregnancy might partly compensate the damage arising from prenatal maternal stress during pregnancy [91].

Laplante and coworkers published in 2004 a study in which they shed light on the effects of prenatal maternal stress on the general intellectual and language functioning in human toddlers [92]. They examined 58 toddlers whose mothers were pregnant during an ice storm in Quebec, Canada, in January 1998 at the age of 2 years. By measuring the infants' Bayley Mental Development Index (MDI) scores and asking the parents for the toddlers' language abilities the researchers found out that "the more severe the level of prenatal stress exposure, the poorer the toddlers' abilities". Laplante et al. postulate that the infants in early pregnancy are most vulnerable to PNMS [92]. This leads us to the question: at which particular time is prenatal maternal stress most

detrimental? Huizink and coworkers have looked at the most vulnerable time in pregnancy for PNMS on the toddlers' development. They examined 170 nulliparous women by collecting salivary cortisol levels in every trimester and asking the women to write down their daily hassles and pregnancy-specific anxiety in a self-report form. When the infants (only those who were born at term) were at age 3 and 8 months their mental and motor development was assessed. The researchers wrote: "High levels of pregnancy-specific anxiety in mid-pregnancy predicted lower mental and motor developmental scores at 8 months (p < 0.05). High amounts of daily hassles in early pregnancy were associated with lower mental developmental scores at 8 months (p < 0.05) [93]. Early morning values of cortisol in late pregnancy were negatively related to both mental and motor development at 3 months (p < 0.05 and p < 0 .005, respectively) and motor development at 8 months (p < 0.01)" [94]. Three years later, a similar group of researchers published a study in which they found out that prenatal maternal stress is especially harmful for the infant's attention/concentration index in the first part of pregnancy [95]. A group of researchers from the United States investigated the influence of pregnancy-specific anxiety, state anxiety and depression on the toddlers' neurodevelopmental outcomes. They interviewed 89 pregnant women at 15, 19, 25, 31 and 37 weeks of gestation to outline their current situation concerning the variables above. At age 6 to 9 years the executive function of the offspring was assessed, "High levels of mean maternal pregnancy-specific anxiety over the course of gestation were associated with lower inhibitory control in girls only and lower visuospatial working memory performance in boys and girls. Higher-state anxiety and depression also were associated with lower visuospatial working memory performance. However, neither state anxiety nor depression explained any additional variance after accounting for pregnancy-specific anxiety. The findings contribute to the literature supporting an association between pregnancy-specific anxiety and cognitive development and extend our knowledge about the persistence of this effect until middle childhood" [93]. Anxiety has also been found to be related to non-optimal neuro-motor development [96].

Glynn and coworkers examined the effects of negative life stress happening during pregnancy and the emotional response to it. They included 292 women into their study and suggested that specific life events occurring early in pregnancy are perceived as more stressful to the mothers-to-be [97]. Recently the same group of investigators proposed that maternal psychosocial stress can affect the stress regulation response of the infant [98].

# 6.1. Anxiety, cognition, telomerase activity and the role of psychological stress

A further central issue involved in this complex is psychological stress which needs to be identified and treated. Recent data has pointed out the effect of adversities in early life which influence physiological regulation in later life [99]. While the original theories of Selye on the general adaptation syndrome as a response to a general alarm reaction [100] initiated research on the hormones of the HPA, recent experimental research has clearly demonstrated that the endocrine response pattern associated with stress reactions can be triggered by a condition of magnesium deficiency. This leads to a situation of anxiety and to activation of the HPA axis [101]. Altogether we believe that it is sensible to propose that as a consequence of the negative effects of the physical and psychological stressors magnesium levels decrease creating a situation which increases the general susceptibility to stress [102]. Low levels of magnesium will add another negative dimension to the organism, i.e. downregulation of telomerase [103]. On the other hand and contrasting with chronic stressors, acute stress has been considered to be beneficial as it stimulates neurogenesis in the hippocampus under experimental conditions [104].

Cognitive impairments and fear generalization have some common elements that can be linked to magnesium, selenium and coenzyme Q10 as well as to the hippocampus. In order to describe these links we

cite here some clinical and experimental data in a chronological order which corresponds roughly to life development.

The main terms describing this setting are maternal prenatal stress and early life stress. In a similar way research on epigenetics goes even to consider a broader time window. Citing Lo and Zhou [105]: "There are three categorical stages of life history when epigenetics are registered — ancestral (including parents), prenatal, and postnatal stages. Among these stages, prenatal epigenetic registration is the most eminent and profound influence on the formation or fine-tuning of the nervous system during development." We consider that the starting point in clinical work should consider prenatal maternal stress which can be seen as a contributing factor to stress conduct later in life [106–108]. Besides this, events happening in intrauterine life can also affect telomere length in the newborn [109] as well as in young adulthood [110]. These events together with the interaction of low magnesium levels with telomerase mentioned above let us propose a tighter connection between magnesium deficiency, stress, and future development.

We have described prenatal maternal stress in a previous section. These effects show changes in the function of the hippocampus [111]. Early life stress has been found to shape areas of the brain related to emotion processing located on the hippocampus and amygdala [112] and early life stress can be related to hippocampal cell loss [113] as well as to inhibition of neurogenesis [114]. Experimental studies on prenatal stress have demonstrated an alteration in the neurogenesis of the hippocampus thus consequently affecting the learning capability [115]. The timing of these situations, i.e. pregnancy [116], is directly related to the concept of pre-natal stress. Ante-natal stress has also been considered as a possible origin of later psychopathology [85,117]. Both intellectual functioning and cognitive ability or development can be affected in children [82,92,118-120]. Contrary to pre-natal stress, maternal care promotes hippocampal synaptogenesis and in the end cognitive development [121]. This function is related to the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Selenium exerts neuro-protective action on the hippocampus in relation to BDNF [122]. One important mechanism that is found in cases of maltreatment is DNA methylation of BDNF [123]. Szyf considers DNA methylation a mechanism by which experiences in early life can be embedded [124,125]. Experimental magnesium deficiency during pregnancy has been found to be related to hyper-methylation [126]. An additional mechanism related to intrauterine stress is the appearance of shorter telomeres in young adults [110]. The Alturas have recently demonstrated that short-term magnesium deficiency can down regulate telomerase [103]. In addition to this, Bachnas et al. have shown that antenatal supplementation with magnesium sulfate in humans can improve the levels of BDNF [127]. In the setting of experimental menopause, Sandhir et al. have found that coenzyme Q10 can ameliorate cognitive functions [128]. Low selenium levels in elderly people can be associated with cognitive decline [129]. Exciting experimental data have been recently presented by Abumaria et al. on the beneficial effect of magnesium supplementation using a new compound magnesium L-threonate. It is effective in preventing fear over generalization [130] and it can also enhance the retention of the extinction of fear memory [131]. Wang et al. have observed that magnesium L-threonate can prevent and restore memory deficits related to neuropathic pain involving TNF-alpha [132]. Cognitive functions such as learning can also be positively modulated by magnesium administration. This last action is related (again) to changes in the hippocampus [133]. These experimental findings are of interest to our research because they correlate with the effects of thyroid function on the hippocampus [134-137] as well as to psychological stress due to trauma [102,138-140].

## 6.2. Fear extinction

Some situations mentioned in the preceding sections have to be seen from overcoming adversities. In order to achieve this, a mechanism of

fear extinction will be needed for reducing conditioned fear responses [141]. This has a place in this review since learning to overcome adversities involves cognitive processes [142]. When fear extinction cannot be mastered a relapse of fear can occur [143]. Anatomical correlates in the brain include the medial pre-frontal cortex and the hippocampus [144–146]. Orsini and Maren have reviewed data on the field of fear and extinction memory formation at a neural and cellular level [147].

Estrogen levels have been described as potential regulators of these processes both in humans as well as under experimental conditions [148–152]. While interventions with hormones could have a potential use [153], a rather simple measure to influence fear conditioning appears to be the administration of magnesium aiming at increasing its levels in the brain [131]. On molecular grounds, magnesium administration will influence the expression of the NR2B component of the NMDA receptor in the hippocampus [154].

## 7. Neurocognitive research, stress and the NMDA receptor

Synaptic plasticity in the processes of learning and memory is related to the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors [155]. In the rat 3 species of coding DNA for the NMDA receptor have been identified. The subunits coded are NMDAR2A, NMDAR2B, and NMDAR2C which are also called NR2A, NR2B, and NR2C [156]. These subunits will form heterodimers which have different properties. In the developing brain of neonates functional interactions between NMDAR and magnesium are lesser than to the ones found from glutamate and glycine [157]. On the other hand post-mortem investigations of the brain in cases of cognition in schizophrenia have shown a significant correlation between NR-1 mRNA loss and cognitive deterioration [158].

Besides the elements mentioned here, recent research on cognition has expanded its scope looking into stress situations. This feature links this section with the previous ones. Following the opinion of Pessoa [159] it appears wise to consider cognition and affection together. Working with adults Navalta et al. have demonstrated that repeated sexual trauma in childhood can affect cognition in apparently healthy adult women [160]. Such stressful situations could affect neurogenesis of the hippocampus [161]. As mentioned above one mechanism that is involved in lessening the influence of previous stress situations is consolidation of fear extinction which is a process that requires activation of the NMDA receptors [162]. The C-terminal intracellular domain of the GluN2B subunit has been further characterized to be involved in fear memories and fear extinction [163]. The NMDA receptor is also related to memory and chronic pain. Zhuo has pointed out the relationship of the NR2B subunit in this context [164].

Besides fear extinction, the process of aging has been shown to be associated to a deficit in NR2B which in turn relates to learning and memory [165]. Wang et al. have recently discussed the option of targeting the NR2B subunit of the NMDA receptor for improving memory functions. The use of magnesium L-threonate has been found to be useful in upregulating NR2B expression [166].

Synaptic plasticity involves not only NMDA receptors and BDNF but also reelin. This action appears to be mediated via the ApoE2 receptor [167,168]. The ApoE2 receptor functions also as a receptor for selenoprotein P. Alterations in this system will lead to neurodegenerative changes [169]. In addition to this, thyroid hormones regulate reelin expression and thus neuronal migration [170].

Zinc deficiency will have a negative effect on the development NMDA receptor subunits [171]. Zinc deficiency can also affect neurogenesis [172–174] and also affect cognition [175]. Zinc supplementation increases BDNF levels and can delay influence the appearance of memory deficits and also improve mitochondrial function, i.e. respiratory complexes I, II, and IV [176].

# 8. Magnesium: a new therapeutic option in stress and in thyroid function and neuro cognitive research

In recent studies we have been able to demonstrate a functional relationship between magnesium levels and thyroid function, i.e. TSH levels, as well as vascularization [4,5]. Two special conditions were found to be associated with this situation: physical stressors in the form of musculoskeletal changes and psychological stressors. The common denominator associated with them is that of low levels of magnesium. Clinically some of the adult patients report having fatigue as a central complaint. Cognitive difficulties such as lack of concentration, difficulties in learning, and forgetting things were also present. Treating these patients in a holistic way to include the physical and psychological problems led to improvement of a great majority of symptoms. In cases of hyperthyroidism as well as of hypothyroidism thyroid morphology returned to normal after long-time supplementation with magnesium citrate, i.e. 3-5 years. Some patients required also coenzyme Q10 when characteristic changes in the vessels were found, i.e. thickened vessels [5]. On the other hand patients presenting acute situations of anxiety and fear tended to present a drop in the concentration of magnesium without changes in thyroid function.

Parallel to our studies and developments the group from Guosong Liu was working on the relation between magnesium and cognition. In a series of publications they were able to show the positive effects of a novel magnesium salt, i.e. magnesium L-threonate. The effects included enhancement of memory and learning. It also modulated fear extinction and fear conditioning and prevented fear overgeneralization [130,131,133,177].

Based on our clinical observations we propose that magnesium levels in blood appear to reflect rapid physiological changes following stress. Besides the theoretical considerations presented here it appears necessary to design a simple therapeutical approach for the individual. Using the proposal from Griagnic-Philippe et al. one could look at: "Measures of subjective psychological stress and objective physiological stress responses offer different information and their simultaneous use would allow us to obtain a more global picture" [178]. Institution of magnesium supplementation with magnesium citrate could have the potential to neutralize the effect of stressors found prior to pregnancy or during pregnancy, i.e. ancestral or prenatal stress, and thus improve outcome of the offspring including consequently cognition. This concept follows the recent findings of Sartori et al. who clearly demonstrated that the activation of the stress reactions can be reduced to magnesium deficiency [101]. Lack of magnesium will limit achievement in the sense of resilience [4].

Closing our discussion of cognition we would like to include a quote of a publication by Bay [179] who looked at the interactions between fertility treatments and IQ: "This study confirms that adjusting for parental intelligence should be the norm when examining child IQ as an outcome. Another elegant feature is inclusion of a range of child cognitive outcomes: IQ, attention, and executive function".

#### 9. Limitations of the review

Our academic review had a starting point in the field of thyroid diseases. The inclusion of a larger scope of information outside of our central area of work was done with the best of our cognitive abilities.

#### **Contributions**

Both authors contributed equally to literature research. Both authors wrote the draft. RM wrote the final version and produced the graphical abstract.

## **Transparency document**

The Transparency document associated with this article can be found, in the online version.

#### References

- [1] J. Duncan, The structure of cognition: attentional episodes in mind and brain, Neuron 80 (2013) 35–50 (PM:24094101).
- [2] E.N. Pearce, et al., Global iodine nutrition: where do we stand in 2013? Thyroid 23 (2013) 523–528.
- [3] G. Ianiro, et al., Levothyroxine absorption in health and disease, and new therapeutic perspectives, Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. 18 (2014) 451–456 (PM: 24610609)
- [4] R. Moncayo, H. Moncayo, Exploring the aspect of psychosomatics in hypothyroidism: the WOMED model of body – mind interactions based on musculoskeletal changes, psychological stressors, and low levels of magnesium, Woman Psychosom. Gynaecol. Obstet. 1 (2014) 1–11, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.woman. 2014.02.001.
- [5] R. Moncayo, H. Moncayo, The WOMED model of benign thyroid disease: acquired magnesium deficiency due to physical and psychological stressors relates to dysfunction of oxidative phosphorylation, BBA Clin. 3 (2015) 44–64, http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.bbacli.2014.11.002.
- [6] R. Moncayo, H. Moncayo, Proof of concept of the WOMED model of benign thyroid disease: restitution of thyroid morphology after correction of physical and psychological stressors and magnesium supplementation, BBA Clin. 3 (2015) 113–122, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbacli.2014.12.005.
- [7] C. Hales, et al., The second wave of the Controlled Antenatal Thyroid Screening (CATS II) study: the cognitive assessment protocol, BMC Endocr. Disord. 14 (2014) 95 (PM:25495390).
- [8] N. Breslau, et al., Low birth weight and neurocognitive status at six years of age, Biol. Psychiatry 40 (1996) 389–397 (PM:8874840).
- [9] J.D. Boardman, et al., Low birth weight, social factors, and developmental outcomes among children in the United States, Demography 39 (2002) 353–368 (PM: 12048956).
- [10] M. Richards, et al., Birthweight, postnatal growth and cognitive function in a national UK birth cohort, Int. J. Epidemiol. 31 (2002) 342–348 (PM:11980795).
- [11] I. Kirkegaard, et al., Gestational age and birth weight in relation to school performance of 10-year-old children: a follow-up study of children born after 32 completed weeks, Pediatrics 118 (2006) 1600–1606 (PM:17015552).
- [12] D.A. Lawlor, et al., Intrauterine growth and intelligence within sibling pairs: findings from the Aberdeen children of the 1950s cohort, Pediatrics 117 (2006) e894–e902 (PM:16651293).
- [13] B.W. Boat, et al., Preventive education and birth order as co-determinants of IQ in disadvantaged 5-year-olds, Child Care Health Dev. 12 (1986) 25–36 (PM:3955795).
- [14] D.A. Lawlor, et al., Early life predictors of childhood intelligence: evidence from the Aberdeen children of the 1950s study, J. Epidemiol. Community Health 59 (2005) 656–663 (PM:16020642).
- [15] F. Camargo-Figuera, et al., Early life determinants of low IQ at age 6 in children from the 2004 Pelotas Birth Cohort: a predictive approach, BMC Pediatr. 14 (2014) 308 PM:25510879.
- [16] N. Okamura, et al., Functional neuroimaging of cognition impaired by a classical antihistamine, p-chlorpheniramine, Br. J. Pharmacol. 129 (2000) 115–123 (PM: 10694210).
- [17] S.J. Wong-Goodrich, et al., Spatial memory and hippocampal plasticity are differentially sensitive to the availability of choline in adulthood as a function of choline supply in utero, Brain Res. 1237 (2008) 153–166 (PM:18778697).
- [18] X. Jiang, et al., Maternal choline supplementation: a nutritional approach for improving offspring health? Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 25 (2014) 263–273 (PM: 24680198).
- [19] M.M. Black, Effects of vitamin B12 and folate deficiency on brain development in children, Food Nutr. Bull. 29 (2008) S126–S131 (PM:18709887).
- [20] S. Grantham-McGregor, A review of studies of the effect of severe malnutrition on mental development, J. Nutr. 125 (1995) 2233S–2238S (PM:7542705).
- [21] B.J. Strupp, D.A. Levitsky, Enduring cognitive effects of early malnutrition: a theoretical reappraisal, J. Nutr. 125 (1995) 2221S–2232S (PM:7542704).
- [22] B.R. Kar, et al., Cognitive development in children with chronic protein energy malnutrition, Behav. Brain Funct. 4 (2008) 31 (PM:18652660).
- [23] C. Byrd-Bredbenner, et al., Relationship of social cognitive theory concepts to mothers' dietary intake and BMI, Matern. Child Nutr. 7 (2011) 241–252 (PM: 21689267).
- [24] A.H. Marques, et al., The influence of maternal prenatal and early childhood nutrition and maternal prenatal stress on offspring immune system development and neurodevelopmental disorders, Front. Neurosci. 7 (2013) 120 (PM:23914151).
- [25] B.W. Camp, Adolescent mothers and their children: changes in maternal characteristics and child developmental and behavioral outcome at school age, J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr. 17 (1996) 162–169 (PM:8783062).
- [26] K.S. Sommer, et al., Prenatal maternal predictors of cognitive and emotional delays in children of adolescent mothers, Adolescence 35 (2000) 87–112 (PM:10841299).
- [27] S. Giovanoli, et al., Stress in puberty unmasks latent neuropathological consequences of prenatal immune activation in mice, Science 339 (2013) 1095–1099 (PM:23449593).
- [28] P.D. Wadhwa, et al., Stress, infection and preterm birth: a biobehavioural perspective, Paediatr. Perinat. Epidemiol. 15 (Suppl. 2) (2001) 17–29 (PM:11520397).
- [29] S.C. Tough, et al., Maternal mental health predicts risk of developmental problems at 3 years of age: follow up of a community based trial, BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 8 (2008) 16 (PM:18460217).
- [30] E. Baumann, E. Roos, Ueber das normale Vorkommen von Jod im Thierkörper. (II. Mittheilung), Z. Physiol. Chem. 21 (1895) 481–493.
- [31] E.B. Man, et al., Butanol-extractable iodine of serum, J. Clin. Invest. 30 (1951) 531–538 (PM:14832383).

- [32] G.W. Greenman, et al., Thyroid dysfunction in pregnancy. Fetal loss and follow-up evaluation of surviving infants, N. Engl. J. Med. 267 (1962) 426–431 (PM: 13901563).
- [33] E.B. Man, W.S. Jones, Thyroid function in human pregnancy. V. Incidence of maternal serum low butanol-extractable iodines and of normal gestational TBG and TBPA capacities; retardation of 8-month-old infants, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 104 (1969) 898–908 (PM:4183108).
- [34] E.B. Man, et al., Thyroid function in human pregnancy. 8. Retardation of progeny aged 7 years; relationships to maternal age and maternal thyroid function, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 111 (1971) 905–916 (PM:4107381).
- [35] D.D. Adams, et al., Endemic goiter in Western New Guinea. 3. Thyroid-stimulating activity of serum from severely iodine-deficient people, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 28 (1968) 685–692 (PM:5653202).
- [36] P.O. Pharoah, et al., Neurological damage to the fetus resulting from severe iodine deficiency during pregnancy, Lancet 297 (1971) 308–310 (PM:4100150).
- [37] C. Healey, Maring Hunter and Traders. Production and Exchange in the Papua New Guinea Highlands, University of California Press, Berkeley, 1990.
- [38] G.H. Floor, G. Román-Ross, Selenium in volcanic environments: a review, Appl. Geochem. 27 (2012) 517–531.
- [39] C.J. Healey, New Guinea inland trade: transformation and resilience in the context of capitalist penetration, Mankind 15 (1985) 127–144.
- [40] P.O. Pharoah, Duncan memorial lecture: part 1. Dr Duncan's legacy in a remote New Guinea valley, J. Epidemiol. Community Health 53 (1999) 794–800 (PM: 10656089).
- [41] Y. Fujita, et al., Endogenous nitrogen excretion in male highlanders of Papua New Guinea, J. Nutr. 114 (1984) 1997–2002 (PM:6491755).
- [42] U.M. Donovan, et al., Selenium intakes of children from Malawi and Papua New Guinea consuming plant-based diets, J. Trace Elem. Electrolytes Health Dis. 6 (1992) 39–43 (PM:1638183).
- [43] R. Fierro-Benítez, et al., Effect of iodine correction early in fetal life on intelligence quotient. A preliminary report, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 30 (1972) 239–247 (PM: 4350936).
- [44] P.O. Pharoah, et al., Maternal thyroid hormone levels in pregnancy and the subsequent cognitive and motor performance of the children, Clin. Endocrinol. 21 (1984) 265–270 (PM:6478630).
- [45] A. Aracil, A new conception of knowledge, a new conception of learning: from Tetris to Rubik's cube, Med. Educ. 44 (2010) 215 (PM:20059673).
- [46] K. Bougma, et al., lodine and mental development of children 5 years old and under: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Nutrients 5 (2013) 1384–1416 (PM:23609774).
- [47] S.J. Zhou, et al., Effect of iodine supplementation in pregnancy on child development and other clinical outcomes: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials, Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 98 (2013) 1241–1254 (PM:24025628).
- [48] J.H. Lazarus, et al., Antenatal thyroid screening and childhood cognitive function, N. Engl. J. Med. 366 (2012) 493–501 (PM:22316443).
- [49] G.R. DeLong, et al., Neurological signs in congenital iodine-deficiency disorder (endemic cretinism), Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 27 (1985) 317–324 (PM:4018426).
- [50] R. Fierro-Benítez, Contribucion ecuatoriana al control del bocio endemico, Acta Andina 3 (1994) 73–80 (http://sisbib.unmsm.edu.pe/bvrevistas/acta\_andina/ v03\_n1/contribuci%C3%B3n.htm).
- [51] G. Riccabona, Die endemische Struma in Tirol, Acta Endocrinol. (Copenh) 55 (1967) 545-561 (PM:4952604).
- [52] R. Moncayo, et al., Thyroid function parameters in normal pregnancies in an iodine sufficient population, BBA Clin. 3 (2015) 90–95, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbacli. 2014.12.006.
- [53] C. Delahunty, et al., Levels of neonatal thyroid hormone in preterm infants and neurodevelopmental outcome at 5 1/2 years: millennium cohort study, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 95 (2010) 4898–4908 (PM:20719832).
- [54] M. Abalovich, et al., Management of thyroid dysfunction during pregnancy and postpartum: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92 (8 Suppl.) (2007) s1–s47 (PM:17948378).
- [55] H. Moncayo, et al., Diagnostic accuracy of basal TSH determinations based on the intravenous TRH stimulation test: an evaluation of 2570 tests and comparison with the literature, BMC Endocr. Disord. 7 (2007) 5 (PM:17678551).
- [56] H. Moncayo, R. Moncayo, The lack of clinical congruence in diagnosis and research in relation to subclinical hypothyroidism, Fertil. Steril. 101 (2014) e30 (PM: 24534287).
- [57] A.M. Kolte, et al., Depression and emotional stress is highly prevalent among women with recurrent pregnancy loss, Hum. Reprod. 30 (2015) 777–782 (PM: 25662810)
- [58] M. Grossman, On the concept of health capital and the demand for health, J. Polit. Econ. 80 (1972) 223–255 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/1830580).
- 59] R. Roberts, et al., The effects of economic circumstances on British students' mental and physical health, J. Am. Coll. Health 48 (1999) 103–109 (PM:10584444).
- [60] H. Christie, et al., Making ends meet: student incomes and debt, Stud. High. Educ. 26 (2001) 363–383 (http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03075070120076318?src=recsys#.VHYna8mjrdU).
- [61] R. Cooke, et al., Student debt and its relation to student mental health, J. Further High. Educ. 28 (2004) 53–66 (http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/ 0309877032000161814#.VHYjK8mjrdU).
- [62] J.J. Heckman, The economics, technology, and neuroscience of human capability formation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 (2007) 13250–13255 (PM:17686985).
- [63] J.C. Skogen, S. Overland, The fetal origins of adult disease: a narrative review of the epidemiological literature, JRSM Short Rep. 3 (2012) 59 (PM:23301147).
- [64] J.J. Heckman, The developmental origins of health, Health Econ. 21 (2012) 24–29 (PM:22147625).

- [65] E.I. Knudsen, et al., Economic, neurobiological, and behavioral perspectives on building America's future workforce, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 10155–10162 (PM:16801553).
- [66] M. Noroozian, The role of the cerebellum in cognition: beyond coordination in the central nervous system, Neurol. Clin. 32 (2014) 1081–1104 (PM:25439295).
- [67] H.C. Leiner, et al., The human cerebro-cerebellar system: its computing, cognitive, and language skills, Behav. Brain Res. 44 (1991) 113–128 (PM:1751002).
- [68] H.C. Leiner, et al., Reappraising the cerebellum: what does the hindbrain contribute to the forebrain? Behav. Neurosci. 103 (1989) 998–1008 (PM:2679667).
- [69] H.C. Leiner, et al., Does the cerebellum contribute to mental skills? Behav. Neurosci. 100 (1986) 443–454 (PM:3741598).
- [70] J.R. Bloedel, V. Bracha, Duality of cerebellar motor and cognitive functions, Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 41 (1997) 613–634 (PM:9378612).
- [71] C.J. Stoodley, The cerebellum and cognition: evidence from functional imaging studies, Cerebellum 11 (2012) 352–365 (PM:21373864).
- [72] L.F. Koziol, J.T. Lutz, From movement to thought: the development of executive function, Appl. Neuropsychol. Child 2 (2013) 104–115 (PM:23848244).
- [73] M. Hitier, et al., Vestibular pathways involved in cognition, Front. Integr. Neurosci. 8 (2014) 59 (PM:25100954).
- [74] T. Hartley, et al., Space in the brain: how the hippocampal formation supports spatial cognition, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 369 (2014) 20120510 (PM:24366125)
- [75] B.E. Murdoch, The cerebellum and language: historical perspective and review, Cortex 46 (2010) 858–868 (http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0010945209002706#).
- [76] J.A. Bernard, R.D. Seidler, Moving forward: age effects on the cerebellum underlie cognitive and motor declines, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 42 (2014) 193–207 (PM: 24594194)
- [77] J.A. Bernard, et al., Regional cerebellar volume and cognitive function from adolescence to late middle age, Hum. Brain Mapp. 36 (2015) 1102–1120 (PM:25395058).
- [78] M. Ito, Control of mental activities by internal models in the cerebellum, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 9 (2008) 304–313 (PM:18319727).
- [79] P.T. Ellison, Evolutionary perspectives on the fetal origins hypothesis, Am. J. Hum. Biol. 17 (2005) 113–118 (PM:15612045).
- [80] D.J. Barker, C. Osmond, Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in England and Wales, Lancet 1 (1986) 1077–1081 (PM:2871345).
- [81] B.R. Van den Bergh, et al., Antenatal maternal anxiety and stress and the neurobehavioural development of the fetus and child: links and possible mechanisms. A review, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 29 (2005) 237–258 (PM:15811496).
- [82] K. Bergman, et al., Maternal stress during pregnancy predicts cognitive ability and fearfulness in infancy, J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 46 (2007) 1454–1463 (PM:18049295).
- [83] H.A. de Boo, J.E. Harding, The developmental origins of adult disease (Barker) hypothesis, Aust. N. Z. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 46 (2006) 4–14 (PM:16441686).
- [84] H. Beydoun, A.F. Saftlas, Physical and mental health outcomes of prenatal maternal stress in human and animal studies: a review of recent evidence, Paediatr. Perinat. Epidemiol. 22 (2008) 438–466 (PM:18782252).
- [85] V. Glover, Annual research review: prenatal stress and the origins of psychopathology: an evolutionary perspective, J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 52 (2011) 356–367 (PM:21250994).
- [86] H.L. Littleton, et al., Psychosocial stress during pregnancy and perinatal outcomes: a meta-analytic review, J. Psychosom. Obstet. Gynaecol. 31 (2010) 219–228 (PM: 21039328).
- [87] P.D. Wadhwa, et al., The contribution of maternal stress to preterm birth: issues and considerations, Clin. Perinatol. 38 (2011) 351–384 (PM:21890014).
- [88] P.P. Schnurr, B.L. Green, Understanding relationships among trauma, post-traumatic stress disorder, and health outcomes, Adv. Mind Body Med. 20 (2004) 18–29 (PM: 15068106).
- [89] E. Möhler, et al., Emotional stress in pregnancy predicts human infant reactivity, Early Hum. Dev. 82 (2006) 731–737 (PM:16678983).
- [90] K. Bergman, et al., Quality of child-parent attachment moderates the impact of antenatal stress on child fearfulness, J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 49 (2008) 1089–1098 (PM:19017025).
- [91] C.K. Rini, et al., Psychological adaptation and birth outcomes: the role of personal resources, stress, and sociocultural context in pregnancy, Health Psychol. 18 (1999) 333–345 (PM:10431934).
- [92] D.P. Laplante, et al., Stress during pregnancy affects general intellectual and language functioning in human toddlers, Pediatr. Res. 56 (2004) 400–410 (PM: 15240860).
- 93] C. Buss, et al., Maternal pregnancy-specific anxiety is associated with child executive function at 6–9 years age, Stress 14 (2011) 665–676 (PM:21995526).
- [94] A.C. Huizink, et al., Stress during pregnancy is associated with developmental outcome in infancy, J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 44 (2003) 810–818 (PM:12959490).
- [95] B.M. Gutteling, et al., Does maternal prenatal stress adversely affect the child's learning and memory at age six? J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 34 (2006) 789–798 (PM:17063407).
- [96] T. van Batenburg-Eddes, et al., Maternal symptoms of anxiety during pregnancy affect infant neuromotor development: the generation R study, Dev. Neuropsychol. 34 (2009) 476–493 (PM:20183712).
- [97] L.M. Glynn, et al., Pregnancy affects appraisal of negative life events, J. Psychosom. Res. 56 (2004) 47–52 (PM:14987963).
- [98] E.P. Davis, et al., Prenatal maternal stress programs infant stress regulation, J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 52 (2011) 119–129 (PM:20854366).
- [99] N. Dich, et al., Early life adversity potentiates the effects of later life stress on cumulative physiological dysregulation, Anxiety Stress Coping 30 (2014) 1–19 (PM: 25268115).

- [100] H. Selye, A syndrome produced by diverse nocuous agents, Nature 138 (1936) 32 (http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v138/n3479/abs/138032a0.html).
- [101] S.B. Sartori, et al., Magnesium deficiency induces anxiety and HPA axis dysregulation: modulation by therapeutic drug treatment, Neuropharmacology 62 (2012) 304–312 (PM:21835188).
- [102] L. Galland, Magnesium, stress and neuropsychiatric disorders, Magnes. Trace Elem. 10 (1991) 287–301 (PM:1844561).
- [103] N.C. Shah, et al., Short-term magnesium deficiency downregulates telomerase, upregulates neutral sphingomyelinase and induces oxidative DNA damage in cardiovascular tissues: relevance to atherogenesis, cardiovascular diseases and aging, Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med. 7 (2014) 497–514 (PM:24753742).
- [104] E.D. Kirby, et al., Acute stress enhances adult rat hippocampal neurogenesis and activation of newborn neurons via secreted astrocytic FGF2, Elife 2 (2013) e00362 (PM:23599891).
- [105] C.L. Lo, F.C. Zhou, Environmental alterations of epigenetics prior to the birth, Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 115 (2014) 1–49 (PM:25131541).
- [106] R. Ader, M.L. Belfer, Prenatal maternal anxiety and offspring emotionality in the rat, Psychol. Rep. 10 (1962) 711–718 (http://psycnet.apa.org/psycinfo/1963-04576-001).
- [107] R. Ader, P.M. Conklin, Handling of pregnant rats: effects on emotionality of their offspring, Science 142 (1963) 411–412 (PM:14056716).
- [108] M. Vallée, et al., Prenatal stress induces high anxiety and postnatal handling induces low anxiety in adult offspring: correlation with stress-induced corticosterone secretion, J. Neurosci. 17 (1997) 2626–2636 (PM:9065522).
- [109] S. Entringer, et al., Maternal psychosocial stress during pregnancy is associated with newborn leukocyte telomere length, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 208 (2013) 134–137 (PM:23200710).
- [110] S. Entringer, et al., Stress exposure in intrauterine life is associated with shorter telomere length in young adulthood, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (2011) E513–E518 (PM:21813766).
- [111] J.C. Day, et al., Prenatal stress enhances stress- and corticotropin-releasing factor-induced stimulation of hippocampal acetylcholine release in adult rats, J. Neurosci. 18 (1998) 1886–1892 (PM:9465013).
- [112] J.L. Hanson, et al., Behavioral problems after early life stress: contributions of the hippocampus and amygdala, Biol. Psychiatry (2014), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2014.04.020 (PM:24993057).
- [113] M.J. Meaney, et al., Effect of neonatal handling on age-related impairments associated with the hippocampus, Science 239 (1988) 766–768 (PM:3340858).
- [114] Y.J. Karten, et al., Stress in early life inhibits neurogenesis in adulthood, Trends Neurosci. 28 (2005) 171–172 (PM:15808349).
- [115] V. Lemaire, et al., Prenatal stress produces learning deficits associated with an inhibition of neurogenesis in the hippocampus, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 11032–11037 (PM:11005874).
- [116] M. Darnaudéry, et al., Stress during gestation induces lasting effects on emotional reactivity of the dam rat, Behav. Brain Res. 153 (2004) 211–216 (PM:15219722).
- [117] N.M. Talge, et al., Antenatal maternal stress and long-term effects on child neurodevelopment: how and why? J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 48 (2007) 245–261 (PM:17355398).
- [118] J.K. Buitelaar, et al., Prenatal stress and cognitive development and temperament in infants, Neurobiol. Aging 24 (Suppl. 1) (2003) S53–S60 (PM:12829109).
- [119] R.F. Slykerman, et al., Maternal stress, social support and preschool children's intelligence, Early Hum. Dev. 81 (2005) 815–821 (PM:16019165).
- [120] A. Charil, et al., Prenatal stress and brain development, Brain Res. Rev. 65 (2010) 56–79 (PM:20550950).
- [121] D. Liu, et al., Maternal care, hippocampal synaptogenesis and cognitive development in rats, Nat. Neurosci. 3 (2000) 799–806 (PM:10903573).
- [122] A.S. Abedelhaffez, A. Hassan, Brain derived neurotrophic factor and oxidative stress index in pups with developmental hypothyroidism: neuroprotective effects of selenium, Acta Physiol. Hung. 100 (2013) 197–210 (PM:23708947).
- [123] T.L. Roth, et al., Bdnf DNA methylation modifications in the hippocampus and amygdala of male and female rats exposed to different caregiving environments outside the homecage, Dev. Psychobiol. 56 (2014) 1755–1763 (PM:24752649).
- [124] M. Szyf, The early life social environment and DNA methylation: DNA methylation mediating the long-term impact of social environments early in life, Epigenetics 6 (2011) 971–978 (PM:21772123).
- [125] M. Szyf, J. Bick, DNA methylation: a mechanism for embedding early life experiences in the genome, Child Dev. 84 (2013) 49–57 (PM:22880724).
- [126] J. Takaya, et al., Magnesium deficiency in pregnant rats alters methylation of specific cytosines in the hepatic hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-2 promoter of the offspring, Epigenetics 6 (2011) 573–578 (PM:21406963).
- [127] M.A. Bachnas, et al., Influence of antenatal magnesium sulfate application on cord blood levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in premature infants, J. Perinat. Med. 42 (2014) 129–134 (PM:24062546).
- [128] R. Sandhir, et al., Coenzyme Q10 treatment ameliorates cognitive deficits by modulating mitochondrial functions in surgically induced menopause, Neurochem. Int. 74 (2014) 16–23 (PM:24780430).
- [129] N.T. Akbaraly, et al., Plasma selenium over time and cognitive decline in the elderly, Epidemiology 18 (2007) 52–58 (PM:17130689).
- [130] N. Abumaria, et al., Magnesium supplement enhances spatial-context pattern separation and prevents fear overgeneralization, Behav. Pharmacol. 24 (2013) 255–263 (PM:23764903).
- [131] N. Abumaria, et al., Effects of elevation of brain magnesium on fear conditioning, fear extinction, and synaptic plasticity in the infralimbic prefrontal cortex and lateral amygdala, J. Neurosci. 31 (2011) 14871–14881 (PM:22016520).
- [132] J. Wang, et al., Magnesium L-threonate prevents and restores memory deficits associated with neuropathic pain by inhibition of TNF-alpha, Pain Physician 16 (2013) E563–E575 (PM:24077207).

- [133] I. Slutsky, et al., Enhancement of learning and memory by elevating brain magnesium, Neuron 65 (2010) 165–177 (PM:20152124).
- [134] R. Lavado-Autric, et al., Early maternal hypothyroxinemia alters histogenesis and cerebral cortex cytoarchitecture of the progeny, J. Clin. Invest. 111 (2003) 1073–1082 (PM:12671057).
- [135] C. Alva-Sánchez, et al., The maintenance of hippocampal pyramidal neuron populations is dependent on the modulation of specific cell cycle regulators by thyroid hormones, Brain Res. 1271 (2009) 27–35 (PM:19269280).
- [136] R.T. Zoeller, New insights into thyroid hormone action in the developing brain: the importance of T3 degradation, Endocrinology 151 (2010) 5089–5091 (PM: 20962056)
- [137] A. Chaalal, et al., PTU-induced hypothyroidism in rats leads to several early neuropathological signs of Alzheimer's disease in the hippocampus and spatial memory impairments, Hippocampus 24 (2014) 1381–1393 (PM:24978200).
- [138] G. Grases, et al., Anxiety and stress among science students. Study of calcium and magnesium alterations. Magnes. Res. 19 (2006) 102–106 (PM:16955721).
- [139] R.M. Guthrie, R.A. Bryant, Extinction learning before trauma and subsequent posttraumatic stress, Psychosom. Med. 68 (2006) 307–311 (PM:16554398).
- [140] S.B. Norman, et al., Associations between psychological trauma and physical illness in primary care, J. Trauma. Stress. 19 (2006) 461–470 (PM:16929502).
- [141] K.M. Myers, M. Davis, Mechanisms of fear extinction, Mol. Psychiatry 12 (2007)
- 120–150 (PM:17160066).[142] C.R. Flavell, et al., Mechanisms governing the reactivation-dependent destabilization of memories and their role in extinction, Front. Behav. Neurosci. 7 (2013)
- 214 (PM:24421762).
  [143] B. Vervliet, et al., Fear extinction and relapse: state of the art, Annu. Rev. Clin.
- [143] B. Vervliet, et al., Fear extinction and relapse: state of the art, Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 9 (2013) 215–248 (PM:23537484).
- [144] E. Santini, et al., Consolidation of fear extinction requires protein synthesis in the medial prefrontal cortex, J. Neurosci. 24 (2004) 5704–5710 (PM:15215292).
- [145] J. Ji, S. Maren, Hippocampal involvement in contextual modulation of fear extinction, Hippocampus 17 (2007) 749–758 (PM:17604353).
- [146] J. Peters, et al., Induction of fear extinction with hippocampal-infralimbic BDNF, Science 328 (2010) 1288–1290 (PM:20522777).
- [147] C.A. Orsini, S. Maren, Neural and cellular mechanisms of fear and extinction memory formation, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 36 (2012) 1773–1802 (PM: 22230704).
- [148] Y.J. Chang, et al., Estrogen modulates sexually dimorphic contextual fear extinction in rats through estrogen receptor beta, Hippocampus 19 (2009) 1142–1150 (PM: 19338017).
- [149] M.R. Milad, et al., The influence of gonadal hormones on conditioned fear extinction in healthy humans, Neuroscience 168 (2010) 652–658 (PM:20412837).
- [150] C.J. Merz, et al., Neuronal correlates of extinction learning are modulated by sex hormones, Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 7 (2012) 819–830 (PM:21990419).
- [151] E.M. Glover, et al., Estrogen levels are associated with extinction deficits in women with posttraumatic stress disorder, Biol. Psychiatry 72 (2012) 19–24 (PM: 22502987).
- [152] M.I. Antov, U. Stockhorst, Stress exposure prior to fear acquisition interacts with estradiol status to alter recall of fear extinction in humans, Psychoneuroendocrinology 49 (2014) 106–118 (PM:25080403).
- [153] B.M. Graham, M.R. Milad, Blockade of estrogen by hormonal contraceptives impairs fear extinction in female rats and women, Biol. Psychiatry 73 (2013) 371–378 (PM:23158459).
- [154] A.I. Bush, Kalzium ist nicht alles, Neuron 65 (2010) 143–144 (PM:20152120).
- [155] C.F. Zorumski, Y. Izumi, NMDA receptors and metaplasticity: mechanisms and possible roles in neuropsychiatric disorders, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 36 (2012) 989–1000 (PM:22230702).
- [156] H. Monyer, et al., Heteromeric NMDA receptors: molecular and functional distinction of subtypes, Science 256 (1992) 1217–1221 (PM:1350383).

- [157] H. Chahal, et al., Modulation by magnesium of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in developing human brain, Arch. Dis. Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 78 (1998) F116-F120 (PM:9577281).
- [158] C. Humphries, et al., NMDA receptor mRNA correlation with antemortem cognitive impairment in schizophrenia, Neuroreport 7 (1996) 2051–2055 (PM:8905723).
- [159] L. Pessoa, On the relationship between emotion and cognition, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 9 (2008) 148–158 (PM:18209732).
- [160] C.P. Navalta, et al., Effects of childhood sexual abuse on neuropsychological and cognitive function in college women, J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 18 (2006) 45–53 (PM:16525070).
- [161] A. Korosi, et al., Early-life stress mediated modulation of adult neurogenesis and behavior, Behav. Brain Res. 227 (2012) 400–409 (PM:21821065).
- [162] C. Furini, et al., The learning of fear extinction, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 47C (2014) 670–683 (PM:25452113).
- [163] S. Jacobs, et al., Molecular and genetic determinants of the NMDA receptor for superior learning and memory functions, PLoS ONE 9 (2014) e111865 (PM: 25360708).
- [164] M. Zhuo, Plasticity of NMDA receptor NR2B subunit in memory and chronic pain, Mol. Brain 2 (2009) 4 (PM:19192303).
- [165] D.A. Clayton, et al., A hippocampal NR2B deficit can mimic age-related changes in long-term potentiation and spatial learning in the Fischer 344 rat, J. Neurosci. 22 (2002) 3628–3637 (PM:11978838).
- [166] D. Wang, et al., Targeting the NMDA receptor subunit NR2B for treating or preventing age-related memory decline, Expert Opin. Ther. Targets 18 (2014) 1121–1130 (PM:25152202).
- [167] G. D'Arcangelo, Apoer2: a reelin receptor to remember, Neuron 47 (2005) 471–473 (PM:16102527).
- [168] U. Beffert, et al., Modulation of synaptic plasticity and memory by Reelin involves differential splicing of the lipoprotein receptor Apoer2, Neuron 47 (2005) 567–579 (PM:16102539).
- [169] W.M. Valentine, et al., Neurodegeneration in mice resulting from loss of functional selenoprotein P or its receptor apolipoprotein e receptor 2, J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 67 (2008) 68–77 (PM:18172410).
- [170] M. Alvarez-Dolado, et al., Thyroid hormone regulates reelin and dab1 expression during brain development, J. Neurosci. 19 (1999) 6979–6993.
- [171] W. Chowanadisai, et al., Maternal zinc deficiency reduces NMDA receptor expression in neonatal rat brain, which persists into early adulthood, J. Neurochem. 94 (2005) 510–519 (PM:15998301).
- [172] E. Bruel-Jungerman, et al., Adult hippocampal neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity and memory: facts and hypotheses, Rev. Neurosci. 18 (2007) 93–114 (PM:17593874).
- [173] A.M. Adamo, P.I. Oteiza, Zinc deficiency and neurodevelopment: the case of neurons, Biofactors 36 (2010) 117–124 (PM:20333753).
- [174] C.W. Levenson, D. Morris, Zinc and neurogenesis: making new neurons from development to adulthood, Adv. Nutr. 2 (2011) 96–100 (PM:22332038).
- [175] A.S. Prasad, Impact of the discovery of human zinc deficiency on health, J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 28 (2009) 257–265 (PM:20150599).
- [176] C. Corona, et al., Dietary zinc supplementation of 3xTg-AD mice increases BDNF levels and prevents cognitive deficits as well as mitochondrial dysfunction, Cell Death. Dis. 1 (2010) e91 (PM:21368864).
- [177] W. Li, et al., Elevation of brain magnesium prevents synaptic loss and reverses cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease mouse model, Mol. Brain 7 (2014) 65 (PM:25213836).
- [178] R. Graignic-Philippe, et al., Effects of prenatal stress on fetal and child development: a critical literature review, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 43 (2014) 137–162 (PM:24747487).
- [179] B. Bay, et al., Fértility treatment and child intelligence, attention, and executive functions in 5-year-old singletons: a cohort study, BJOG 121 (2014) 1642–1651 (PM:24910085).